IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

# HARVEY LAVELL REID

v.

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI** 

2007-KA-732-5CT

NO. 07-CR-004-NWG



NOV 2 3 2007 Office of the Clerk SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Circuit Court of Newton County, Mississippi

# **BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

Edmund J. Phillips, Jr. Attorney at Law P. O. Box 178 Newton, MS 39345 Telephone 601-683-3387 Facsimile 601-683-3110 MS Bar No. COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

....

Oral Argument Not Requested.

#

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. The Court Erred in Granting Jury Instruction S-3.

.

2. The Court Erred in overruling Appellant's Objection to Leading Questions on Redirect Examination.

3. The Court Erred in Denying Appellant's Motion to Suppress His Statement.

4. The Court Erred in Allowing Kayla Griffin to Testify.

7

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Harvey Lavell Reid, appeals his conviction by the Circuit Court of Newton County, Mississippi, of gratification of lust and was sentenced to Fifteen (15) years with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

Pertinent facts will be referred to in the argument.

.

.

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

•

1. Jury instructions must be supported by the record evidence.

2. Leading questions should not be allowed on substantive matters during redirect examination.

3. Information or implying to an accused that his confession would result in leniency is improper persuasion and should result in rendering a subsequent confession inadmissible.

4. A child must be examined about her consciousness of her duty to speak the truth before he or she is permitted to testify in Court.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I.

#### **THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING JURY INSTRUCTION S-3**

Over objection by Appellant (T-115), the Court granted (CT-116) jury instruction

S-3 (C.P. 25), despite the fact that consent was not an issue.

The instruction read as follows:

The Court instructs the Jury that where the act of gratification of lust is committed by a defendant, who is over the age of eighteen (18) years, upon a child under the age of sixteen (16) years, the Defendant is guilty of said crime without regard to whether or not the child consented to the act.

Therefore, you are instructed that if you should find from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the act complained of, then you should return a verdict of Guilty as to said act without regard to whether or not the child consented.

It addresses only the issue of consent to the act by the child.

There was nothing in the record to make consent an issue or to justify the

instruction. The instruction was thus not supported by the evidence.

A jury instruction must be supported by the evidence. Lancaster v. State, 472 So.

2d 363, 365 (Miss. 1985); Dennis v. State, 555 So. 2d 679, 683 (Miss. 1989).

The Court's granting the instruction was error. The verdict should be overturned.

#### II.

## THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S OBJECTION TO LEADING QUESTIONS ON REDIRECT EXAMINATION

During redirect examination by the prosecutor of prosecution witness former

Deputy Sheriff Donald Collins about Appellant's ability to understand an advice of rights form read by Deputy Sheriff Mark Spence to Appellant and a statement made by Appellant, the following colloquy occurred (T-113):

Q. Harvey Lavell Reid did understand enough of it to ask for a lawyer when y'all asked him to write it down, didn't he?
BY MR. COLLINS: Object to the form of the question as leading.
BY THE COURT: Overruled.
A. That's right.

MRE 611 generally prohibits the use of leading questions on direct examination. The official comment and case law extend this to redirect examination by prohibiting leading questions of witnesses identified with the party asking the questions. McDavid v. State, 594 So. 2d 12 (Miss. 1992); Larry v. State, 52 So. 2d 292; 211 Miss. 563 (Miss. 1967); Allison v. State, 724 So 2d 1014 (Miss. App. 1998).

In the case before the Court, the question was obviously leading and the witness, a

former Deputy Sheriff, was certainly identified with the prosecution, the party asking the questions.

The Court's overruling the objection to a leading question on redirect examination was error. The verdict should be overturned.

### III.

# <u>THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO</u> <u>SUPPRESS HIS STATEMENT</u>

During a suppression hearing out of the presence of the jury on the admissibility of Appellant's statement, the following colloquy occurred on direct examination of Appellant (T-90, 91):

- Q. I would like for you to tell the Court what happened, what was said and by who before you asked for a lawyer.
- A. Okay. Not Don Collins, but Mark Spence was sitting in

there and he asked me - - you know, he read all this here. And he asked me, you know, he said, "If you'd just go on and admit to it, " he said, "we had one in here that didn't want to admit to it. He didn't admit to it, so he's gone for a long time, doing a lot of time. We had on that admitted to it, and he's out on the streets."

A confession offered in evidence should not be admitted if there is any reasonable doubt as to whether it is freely and voluntarily made. Rhone v. State, 254 So. 2d 750 (Miss. 1971). To be considered voluntary, a confession cannot be the product of official overreaching, in form either of direct coercion or subtle forms of psychological persuasion. U.S. V. Scurlock, 52 F. 3d 531, C.A.5 (Miss) 1995.

In the case before the Court, Appellant was told that one person who confessed was free and another who failed to confess was still in prison, encouraging him to the idea that confession would result in leniency. This created reasonable doubt that the confession was voluntary.

The Court's denying Appellant's motion to suppress was error.

The verdict should be overturned.

### IV.

### THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING KAYLA GRIFFIN TO TESTIFY

The alleged victim, Kayla Griffin, was eleven years old at the time she testified and ten years old at the time of the incident testified about. A youthful witness, in order to be competent, must be shown to possess the capacity and ability "to observe events and to recollect and communicate them, and ..... to understand questions and to frame and make intelligent answers, with a consciousness to the duty to speak the truth."....

"Testimony of a child of tender years should be admitted with great caution, however; and where there is doubt, it should be excluded."

97 C.J.S. Witness Sec. 58, pp. 451-452 Robinson v. State, 108 So. 2d 583 (Miss. 959).

Kayla Griffin was the only witness to testify that Appellant put his hand on the outside of her vagina. No evidence was adduced about her consciousness of her duty to speak the truth.

Because of the failure of the prosecutor to so qualify her as a witness, her testimony should not have been admitted. Without that testimony she could not have been convicted.

Appellant failed to object to the admission of this testimony, however the Court may notice this error as plain error. Signer v. State, 536 So. 2d 10, 12 (Miss. 1988).

The verdict should be overturned.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The verdict should be overturned.