### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HARVEY LAVELL REID A/K/A HARVEY LEAVE REID

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

FILED

NO. 2007-KA-0732-SCT

FEB 2 5 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The grand jury of Newton County indicted defendant, Harvey Lavell Reid for Gratification of Lust Fondling in violation of *Miss. Code Ann.* § 97-5-23(1). (Indictment, C.p.2). After a trial by jury, Judge Marcus D. Gordon, presiding, the jury found defendant guilty. (C.p.31). Defendant was sentenced to 15 years. (Sentence order, C.p. 52-53).

After denial of post-trial motions this instant appeal was timely noticed.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

While in the company of several children defendant took his child victim (10 years old) of in a room and fondled her as described in the indictment. The victim exhibited social and personal problems subsequent to the fondling. Upon closer questioning as to the possible cause of her fears the victim told her story.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

THE PROFFERED INSTRUCTION WAS A CORRECT STATEMENT OF THE LAW AND THE ELEMENTS OF THE OFFENSE.

Issue II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID ERR IN OVERRULING THE SINGLE OBJECTION TO A LEADING QUESTION.

Issue III.

THERE WAS AMPLE EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE TRIAL COURT ALLOWING ADMISSION OF DEFENDANT'S CONFESSION.

Issue IV.

THE CHILD VICTIM WAS ELEVEN AND COMPETENT TO TESTIFY.

## ARGUMENT

### Issue I.

# THE PROFFERED INSTRUCTION WAS A CORRECT STATEMENT OF THE LAW AND THE ELEMENTS OF THE OFFENSE.

In this initial allegation of error counsel for defendant asserts that the instruction given as S-3 was improper as it referred to consent – which he contends was not an issue.

Consent is not an issue because the law clearly defines the crime regardless of the consent of the victim. Consequently it is part of the definition of the crime and is necessary to instruct the jury on the law. *Dupuis v. State*, 872 So.2d 724 (Miss.App. 2004).

Therefore it being a proper statement of the statute under which defendant was charged it cannot be error and no relief should be granted on this first allegation.

#### Issue II.

# THE TRIAL COURT DID ERR IN OVERRULING THE SINGLE OBJECTION TO A LEADING QUESTION.

Specifically counsel for defendant asserts that on re-direct of the Sheriff's deputy it was error to overrule defense objection to leading questions.

Looking to the record re-direct of the Sheriff's deputy consisted of exactly and only two questions. Defense objected to the last question, being overruled. Tr.113.

The state rested.

Defense rested..

An appropriate standard of review for this issue would be:

¶ 33. Brown further argues that the State was allowed to improperly bolster Watts's testimony by asking multiple leading questions throughout redirect. She cites McDavid v. State, 594 So.2d 12, 16-17 (Miss.1992) for the proposition that allowing repeated leading questions on material issues is reversible error. However, our supreme court has stated that, "trial courts are given great discretion in permitting the use of such questions, and unless there has been a manifest abuse of discretion resulting in injury to the complaining party, we will not reverse the decision." Whitlock v. State, 419 So.2d 200, 203 (Miss.1982). We do not believe that allowing the State to ask leading questions regarding Watts's written statement caused any harm to Brown. As previously stated, the statement had already been admitted into evidence, and the State's line of questioning only verified whether the contents of that document were in fact correct.

Brown v. State, 2007 WL 4234638 (Miss.App. 2007)(emphasis added).

With redirect being so short and no claim of prejudice and under the manifest abuse of discretion – no relief should be granted on this allegation of error.

#### Issue III.

# THERE WAS AMPLE EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE TRIAL COURT ALLOWING ADMISSION OF DEFENDANT'S CONFESSION.

Counsel for defendant now seeks to challenge the trial courts ruling on the admissibility of defendant's confession. Specifically claiming his confession was not voluntary and not as a result of inducement, threats or promises.

An appropriate standard of review was recently reiterated for just such an analysis, to wit:

¶10. The circuit court judge sits as the fact-finder in determining whether a confession was freely and voluntarily given. McCarty v. State, 554 So.2d 909, 911 (Miss.1989). Initially, the judge must determine whether the defendant was adequately warned and "whether there has been under the totality of the circumstances a knowing and voluntary waiver of the accused's privilege against self-incrimination." Gavin v. State, 473 So.2d 952, 954 (Miss.1985); see, e.g., Porter v. State, 616 So.2d 899, 907-08 (Miss.1993); Pierre v. State, 607 So.2d 43, 50 (Miss.1992).

¶11. To be admissible, confessions must be given voluntarily and must not be the product of inducements, threats or promises. Morgan v. State, 681 So.2d 82, 86 (Miss.1996). The State bears the burden of proving, beyond a reasonable doubt, the voluntariness of a statement and its admissibility. Id. The prosecution can meet this burden and establish a prima facie case by presenting the testimony of an officer or other person with personal knowledge regarding whether the statement or confession was made voluntarily. Chase v. State, 645 So.2d 829, 838 (Miss.1994). To rebut the State's prima facie case, the defendant must offer testimony that coercion, threats or offer of reward induced the confession. Tolbert v. State, 511 So.2d 1368, 1376 (Miss.1987) (quoting Agee v. State, 185 So.2d 671, 673 (Miss.1966)). If the defendant is able to rebut this prima facie case, the State is obligated to bring forth all witnesses to the confession. Lesley v. State, 606 So.2d 1084, 1091 (Miss.1992).

¶ 12. Once a statement has been found admissible in a preliminary hearing

pursuant to the correct legal standard, its admission into evidence will be upheld on appeal unless the appellate court finds that the trial court manifestly erred or that the trial court's decision to admit the statement was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Hunt v. State, 687 So.2d 1154, 1160 (Miss.1996); Hunter v. State, 684 So.2d 625, 633 (Miss.1996); Frost v. State, 483 So.2d 1345, 1350 (Miss.1986).

Brown v. State, 2007 WL 4234638 (Miss.App. 2007).

The officers involved testified as did defendant and the trial court made specific findings of fact and conclusions of law. Tr. 96.

It is the position of the State that based upon the record on appeal the trial court was correct and not manifestly in error.

Consequently, no relief should be grated on this claim of trial court error.

# Issue IV. THE CHILD VICTIM WAS ELEVEN AND COMPETENT TO TESTIFY.

Lastly, defendant asserts the child witness was not properly qualified as a witness.

There does not appear to be any objection in the record or in pre-trial motions or in the motion for new trial. Consequently this issue is procedurally barred as having been waived.

\*Rowlett v. State\*, 791 So.2d 319 (¶ 11)(Miss.App. 2001).

Without waiving any procedural bar to review it is the contention of the State that from the record the witness was competent to testify.

She knew her age, birth date, her age at the time of the offense, relationships, venue, etc. The trial judge saw her and would have been able to rule had there been an objection.

¶ 24. The question of whether a witness is competent to testify is left to the sound discretion of the trial court. Barnes v. State, 906 So.2d 16, 20(¶ 15) (Miss.Ct.App.2004). A child is competent to testify if the court ascertains that the child possesses "the ability to perceive and remember events, to understand and answer questions intelligently and to comprehend and accept the importance of truthfulness." Mohr v. State, 584 So.2d 426, 431 (Miss.1991). "The trial court is afforded great deference in its determination that a child witness is competent to testify." Williams v. State, 859 So.2d 1046, 1049(¶ 14) (Miss.Ct.App.2003). In order to prevail, Penny "must show that at the time the court made its initial decision that it was apparent that the witness did not meet the criteria for testifying, not that the subsequent testimony was flawed or that the initial determination was possibly erroneous." Id.

Penny v. State, 960 So.2d 533 (Miss.App. 2006).

If this issue were not procedurally barred it would also be without merit as the record is replete with evidence this child victim was competent to comprehend, observe and be

# truthful.

No relief should be granted on this allegation of trial court error.

## **CONCLUSION**

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the verdict of the jury and sentence of the trial court.